IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KATHERINE DEE FLETCHER

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Nov 18 2021 02:39 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

CASE NO. 82047

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction After Jury Verdict in Case CR17-0690(A)

Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, Washoe County Honorable Egan Walker, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

VICTORIA T. OLDENBURG, ESQ. OLDENBURG LAW OFFICE P.O. Box 17422 Reno, NV 89511 Tel. (775) 971-4245

JENNIFER P. NOBLE, ESQ. CHIEF APPELLATE DEPUTY P.O. Box 11130 Reno, NV 89502 Tel. (775) 337-5750

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a Judgment of Conviction pursuant to a jury verdict. 8 Appellant's Appendix (AA) 1790. A Notice of Appeal was filed on October 29, November 16, 2020 and November 19, 2020. 8 AA 1490-1493. This Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 4(b)(1)(A).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is not presumptively assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(2) as it is a direct appeal of a jury verdict that involves the conviction of a category A felony.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Did the District Court commit reversible error by denying Appellant's request to disqualify Judge Walker, and/or did Judge Walker commit reversible error by not voluntarily recusing himself from Appellant's case?
- B. Did the District Court commit reversible error by allowing incriminating statements given by Appellant to Dr. Piasecki and related doctor notes which were compiled and presented pursuant to a court ordered Not Guilty by Reason of Insanity (NGRI) mental health examination, to be admitted into evidence and read to the jury through the testimony of Dr. Piasecki?

///

///

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed an Information charging Appellant Katherine Fletcher ("Fletcher") with one Count of Murder with the Use of a Deadly Weapon for the murder of Robert Jeffrey Trask at Oxbow Park on Dickerson Road in Reno, Nevada, on July 28, 2016. 1 AA 0001. Fletcher was additionally charged with Burglary in Possession of a Firearm and Grand Larceny of a Firearm. 1 AA 0002.

After a five-day jury trial, Fletcher was found guilty of First-Degree Murder with the use of a Deadly Weapon. 8 AA 1317. Fletcher was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole for First Degree Murder, and to a consecutive term of Ninety-Six (96) to Two Hundred Forty (240) months for the Use of a Deadly Weapon. 8 AA 1488. Fletcher filed a timely Notice of Appeal. 8 AA 1490-1493.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Robert Trask's Death and the Investigation

Just before 7:41 p.m. on July 28, 2016, Robert Trask ("Trask") was shot and killed at Oxbow Park on Dickerson Road in Reno, Nevada ("the Park"). 4 AA 0698-699, 714, 729-731, 737. Trask had been at the Park that day with his son, Max Trask, and his son's mother, Fletcher, on one of the Park's patio docks when Trask was shot in the back. 4 AA 0725-0727; 6 AA 1110-1115.

2

¹ The burglary and possession charges were subsequently severed from the Information.

Eric Preciado ("Preciado") was at the Park with his children on the same day and during the same time as Fletcher and Trask and when Trask was shot. 4 AA 0725-0727. When Preciado and his children arrived at the park, Preciado and Trask exchanged pleasantries as Preciado and his children walked past the patio dock where Trask, Fletcher, and Max were. *Id.* Later, when Preciado was in the Park's parking lot at his vehicle preparing to leave, he heard a single gunshot behind him and immediately looked in the direction of the gunshot in time to see Trask stumble and fall forward, face first. 4 AA 0729-0732. After Preciado ran to and tried to provide aid to Trask, who was not responsive, he approached Fletcher at her car to ask what happened², and called 911. 4 AA 0735-0739.

Reno Police Officer Scott Smith arrived with other units on the scene and was the first of the responding officers to get to Trask. 4 AA 0709. Officer Smith, who found Trask laying on his back and unresponsive, began and continued to provide chest compressions until REMSA arrived. 4 AA 0694-0695, 0698-0699, 0709-0710. REMSA transported Trask to the hospital where, despite efforts to save him, Trask was pronounced dead at just after 8:00 p.m. 4 AA 0714. Having been nonresponsive prior to arriving at the hospital, Trask was believed to have not been viable prior to being transported. 4 AA 0716. Washoe County's Medical Examiner and Coroner

² Preciado had passed Fletcher and Max, who were heading to the parking lot, on the trail that led to Trask. 4 AA 0735-0736. At the time he was rendering aid to Trask, Preciado could not figure out how he had gotten shot. 4 AA 0733, 0737.

determined Trask's cause of death to be a gunshot wound of the chest (being shot through the back). 7 AA 1311.

Police investigation of the patio dock on which or near where Trask was shot and killed revealed, among various personal effects, a single 9mm shell casing. 5 AA 0876, 0903-0904. Despite searching the Park and the area and water surrounding the patio dock, both immediately and days after the shooting, the police and other law enforcement agencies that assisted did not find a firearm or anything else of evidentiary value as it related to the shooting. 5 AA 0888, 0906-0913, 0974-0976, 0986-0987, 0991-0992; 6 AA 1127-1130

Fletcher was arrested and charged with Trask's death. 5 AA 0940. Fletcher had been pulled over by police on the evening of July 28, 2016, as a result of surveillance that had been conducted following Trask's death, and was taken to the Reno Police Department and interviewed by Reno Police Detective Scott Johnson. 7 AA 1208-1233. After the clothing Fletcher had worn the day of the shooting and samples from her vehicle were tested for gunshot residue, and after firearms located at Fletcher's residence were taken and compared to the bullet that killed Trask and the shell casing found at the scene, forensic analyses related to gunshot residue and ammunition comparisons indicated:

- Particles consistent with gunshot residue on Fletcher's clothing and from her vehicle was from two different types of ammunition being discharged and deposited on those surface, either from a gun being fired near them or touching them with an object containing gunshot residue.³ 7 AA 1264.

- The presence of gunshot residue on an item does not indicate at what point in time it came in contact with the item; as to clothing, any gunshot residue would have come into contact with the garment sometime before the garment was laundered. 7 AA 1269.
- Firearms that had been located at the home in which Fletcher was living and compared to the shell casing found at the scene and the bullet that killed Trask did not match. 7 AA 1277.
- The bullet that killed Trask could not be matched to the shell casing police found at the Park. 7 AA 1282.

Indeed, there is no evidence that anyone saw Fletcher shoot Trask, saw Fletcher with a gun, or heard Fletcher say that she shot Trask. 4 AA 0750-0751, 761; 5 AA 0960. And, the police who investigated Trask's shooting never located the gun that shot the bullet that killed Trask.

B. Pre-Trial Motions

Pretrial motions included: (1) Fletcher's motion seeking Judge Walker's recusal based upon his involvement in Fletcher's proceedings before the family court and the risk and perception of his bias against Fletcher based upon comments he made to and about her and information he had (1 AA 0084-0100); and (2) the State's motion regarding Fletcher's statements to Dr. Melissa Piasecki as it concerned a

Evidence at trial was that Fletcher had worked at a gun show and had purchased a gun in or around late spring, early summer of 2016 and that she had used the gun for target practice. 5 AA 950-954; 6 AA 1138; 5 AA 966, 970.

letter Fletcher wrote in the context of her previous plea of not guilty by reason of insanity (3 AA 0485-0495). Fletcher's motion seeking Judge Walker's recusal was referred to Judge Elliott Sattler (Department 10) for consideration and determination. 1 AA 0141-0142. After a hearing on the motion (1 AA 0143-0150, 2 AA 0151-0194), Judge Sattler denied Fletcher's request (2 AA 0195-0207). After a hearing on the State's motion regarding Fletcher's statements to Dr. Piasecki (3 AA 0503-0536), the district court required that Fletcher produce to the State her statements to Dr. Piasecki and that the State was permitted to admit those statements through Dr. Piasecki's testimony.

1. Fletcher's Motion to Recuse Judge Walker

In her motion for Judge Walker's recusal, Fletcher explained that, separate and apart from the criminal proceedings against her in this case, she was also involved in: (1) a guardianship case in reference to her two minor children (GR15-00192); and (2) a child welfare case concerning the removal of her two minor children (JV10-00351A). 1 AA 0085. Judge Walker presided over and/or was involved in both of those cases while he was a family court judge with the Second Judicial District Court and until December 2017, when he was appointed to Department 7 of the Second Judicial District Court to replace the late Chief Judge Patrick Flanagan. *Id.* Throughout the time Judge Walker presided over Fletcher's family court cases, he was involved in substantive determinations regarding Fletcher

and her children and had information that was applied in the criminal proceedings, but to which counsel involved in the criminal case did not and could not have access. Id.; 1 AA 0087, 0137; 2 AA 0156-0158, 0169, 0171 (Fletcher's counsel noting that and giving examples of Judge Walker's prior decisions in family court that were flavoring the decisions he was making in the criminal case and creating the perception of bias). Fletcher sought Judge Walker's recusal from presiding over the criminal case before her pursuant to NRS 1.230 based upon comments Judge Walker made to and about her in both the family court proceedings and at that point in the criminal proceedings. 1 AA 0087-0088, 0137; 2 AA 0166. Those comments included references in the family court cases to Fletcher luring Trask to a park where Fletcher allegedly killed him in front of Max, and inflammatory characterizations of the crime with which Fletcher was accused. 1 AA 0088; 2 AA 0155-0156. Fletcher highlighted the standard for disqualification in cases of *perceived* or *potential* – not actual - bias as stated in Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Company, 556 U.S. 868 (2009) and *Rippo v. State*, 134 Nev. (Adv. Op. 53), 423 P.3d 1084 (Nev. 2018). 1 AA 0089, 0135.

In his substantive response to Fletcher's motion⁴, Judge Walker conceded the standard to be applied in determining judicial bias – whether considering all the

⁴ Judge Walker made a number of procedural challenges to Fletcher's motion, none of which got traction in the proceedings before Judge Sattler. 2 AA 0197, n. 4.

circumstances alleged, the risk of bias is too high to be constitutionally tolerable (*Rippo, supra*) – but stated that the comments and conduct that Fletcher attributed to him did not demonstrate that risk of bias. 1 AA 0101-0102, 0115. To that end, Judge Walker addressed and explained some of the comments attributed to him, and in so doing, denied that they revealed any bias in Fletcher's criminal case. 1 AA 0111-0114.

Judge Sattler's Order denying Fletcher's motion for Judge Walker's recusal generally found nothing inappropriate about Judge Walker's comments or about his presiding over both Fletcher's family court matters and the criminal case against her in the context of the legal framework it presented. 2 AA 0198-0206. Based on that analysis, Judge Sattler concluded that "[t]here is no impropriety, nor is there the appearance of impropriety, necessitating Judge Walker's recusal from these cases." 2 AA 0205:25-0206:1.

2. The State's Motion Regarding Fletcher's Statements to Dr. Piasecki.

On February 1, 2019, Fletcher filed a *Notice of Defense* that she would be adding an additional plea of not guilty by reason of insanity (NGRI) pursuant to NRS 174.035(6). 1 AA 0227. On February 22, 2019, the State filed a *Motion for Mental Examination* on the grounds Fletcher pleaded NGRI. 2 AA 0254. The State argued, *inter alia*, that it was entitled to compel a medical examination related to Fletcher's mental state at the time of the crime, and that a mental exam would provide

the prosecution with the most reliable means to confront her insanity claim. 2 AA 0254-0255. On May 24, 2019, the district court granted the motion and issued an *Order for Criminal Responsibility Examination*. 2 AA 0267. The district court found the State was entitled to an independent psychiatric or psychological evaluation so that the State could adequately address the insanity defense, stating:

The State bears the burden of proving that defendant's conduct was not justifiable or excusable. The State can only effectively rebut Defendant's defense by presenting contradictory expert opinion testimony. A psychiatric evaluation is the most reliable means for the State to assess defendant's culpability.

Id.

In the State's September 18, 2019, *Motion for Discovery Related to Insanity* Defense (2 AA 0288), the State sought the production of the facts and data underlying Dr. Piasecki's opinion on the NGRI defense (3 AA 0289). Fletcher opposed the Motion (3 AA 0338), and the State filed its Reply on October 19, 2019 (3 AA 0342). After a hearing, the district court ruled that the defense had to disclose any information Dr. Piasecki used in forming her NGRI opinion. 3 AA 0346, 0430-0432.

On September 19, 2019, Fletcher filed her *Notice of Expert Witness*, providing notice that Dr. Piasecki would testify regarding Fletcher's beliefs and thoughts and how they may have affected her actions so as to address NGRI defense. 3 AA 0292. Dr. Piasecki's Report was filed on September 23, 2019. 3 AA 0332. The

report concluded that Fletcher met Nevada's criteria for a NGRI finding, *inter alia*, Fletcher had a chronic mental illness characterized by delusional beliefs, hallucinations, irrational behaviors, irritability and grandiosity, and that she was delusional at the time of the events leading to her arrest. *Id.* at 0336-337.

On October 29, 2019, due to a potential conflict of interest discovered by the district court judge, in that one of the public defenders on the case had briefly appeared in the child dependency case (JV10-00351) and represented the victim, the public defender was removed from the case and an alternate public defender was appointed. *See* 3 AA 0441. Thereafter, on January 8, 2020, Fletcher withdrew her NGRI plea. 3 AA 0479.

On January 17, 2020, the State filed its *Motion Regarding Defendant's Statements to Dr. Piasecki.* 3 AA 0485. The State argued that, notwithstanding Fletcher withdrew her NGRI defense, it was still entitled to Dr. Piasecki's report and the underlying data that was prepared (solely for the NGRI defense) to use for its case-in-chief. 3 AA 0485. Fletcher opposed the motion, 3 AA 0496, and the State filed a reply. 3 AA 0498. On January 27, 2020, the district court issued a written order (after Fletcher withdrew her NGRI defense), finding that Fletcher had to produce the underling facts and data supporting Dr. Piasecki's NGRI opinion, to include documentation of any statements made and any documents produced by Fletcher to Dr. Piasecki. 3 AA 0537. As to the admission of statements made to Dr.

Piasecki in the case-in-chief of the State, the district court found, *inter alia*, that the Fifth Amendment did not protect the statements because they were made voluntarily and for the purpose of supporting her NGRI plea and, for the same reason, there was no due process protection. 3 AA 0537-0541.

C. Trial

1. Judge Walker's comments and narratives about and to Fletcher

During the trial in this case, Judge Egan Walker had several direct exchanges with Fletcher and, in those exchanges, made repeated references to his familiarity with Fletcher, the two of them having interacted on many occasions in different cases. 6 AA 1028, 1036-1038, 1041-1045 (Judge Walker noting the number of times in different cases Fletcher has been before him); 7 AA 1292 (Judge Walker again noting the many hours he has spent in court with Fletcher in this case and other cases across several years). During one of those exchanges – an exchange in which Fletcher sought a *Young* hearing⁵ – Judge Walker revealed clear exasperation and anger with Fletcher that both preceded and included the case before him. 6 AA 1036-1038 (Judge Walker noting how Fletcher had conducted in cases in which she had previously been before him), 1041-1045 (among other things, Judge Walker

11

⁵ See, Young v. State, 120 Nev. 963, 102 P.3d 572 (2004).

characterizing Fletcher's challenges to her attorneys in previous proceedings before him). ⁶

Shortly after that scolding, Judge Walker addressed the need for the written stipulation confirming that any sentencing would be conducted by the Court rather than the jury. 6 AA 1054. In response to Judge Walker's request for the written stipulation, Fletcher's counsel advised that Fletcher refused to sign it. *Id.* In directly addressing Fletcher about her refusal to sign the stipulation, Judge Walker warned Fletcher about the grave consequences to her of changing her mind about sentencing after the jury had previously (prior to Judge Walker's directly rebuking her) been told that the Court, not the jury, would be sentencing her – a warning that resulted in Fletcher signing the stipulation and waiver of a jury penalty hearing. 6 AA 1055-1057, 1058.

In sentencing Fletcher, Judge Walker made a point of stating that he had been the first judicial officer to develop the plan to terminate Fletcher's parental rights, and that he was very aware of the child dependency case regarding Max as it was

.

Indeed, this exchange was preceded by Judge Walker's comments about Fletcher and the criminal case after Fletcher's motion to disqualify him was denied and just before trial began. During a hearing on transporting Fletcher for the purpose of changing her plea from not guilty by reason of insanity, Judge Walker reminded counsel that he has known Fletcher for several years in several different contexts and informed them about Fletcher raising and waffling on competency issues. 3 AA 0472. He also described the criminal case as having "...a long and tortured history to say the least." 3 AA 0477:18-19.

his responsibility to handle it. 8 AA 1436. Judge Walker also clarified that he at one time presided over the guardianship case concerning Max, the child welfare case concerning Bay (Fletcher's daughter), and the child custody case between the victim and Fletcher. 8 AA 1441.

2. Dr. Piasecki's Testimony

In its case in chief, the State called Dr. Piasecki to testify regarding certain written statements Fletcher had provided to the doctor, including a multi-page narrative written by Fletcher that described the day of the homicide and the aftermath (Trial Exhibit 53). 6 AA 1062-1097. Dr. Piasecki read portions of the narrative to the jury wherein Fletcher described the events of July 28, 2016. Dr. Piasecki had conducted two interviews with Fletcher regarding the document in February 2019. 6 AA 1062-1064. Among other things, Fletcher described in her letter that she was going to meet the victim and her son at Little Caesar's in order to follow the victim to Oxbow Park. 6 AA 1069. In the letter Fletcher stated that prior to going to Little Caesar's an angel of the lord told her to get her gun, which she did, and placed it in her purse and went to Little Caesar's to meet the victim and her son. 6 AA 1067-1072. The multi-page narrative went on to describe Fletcher's version of the events of July 28, 2016, the shooting, and the aftermath leading up to her arrest. 6 AA

⁷ Fletcher asserted her NGRI defense on February 1, 2019. 2 AA 0292. Dr. Piasecki's report indicates she met with Fletcher on March 4, 2019. 2 AA 336.

1072-1092. Dr. Piasecki also testified regarding the notes she made when interviewing Fletcher regarding her statements in February 2019, which were also admitted at trial (Trial Exhibit 54). *Id.* at 1071.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court committed reversible error by denying Fletcher's request to disqualify Judge Walker, and because Judge Walker did not recuse himself in this case. The facts establish that Judge Walker had a long term and contentious relationship with Fletcher that built up to a level of potential or perceived bias that warranted disqualification or recusal under the relevant legal standard. In addition, the district court's decision on the Motion to Recuse was erroneous as a matter of law, all of which undermined and violated Fletcher's Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.

The District Court also committed reversible error by allowing incriminating statements given by Fletcher to Dr. Piasecki, and related doctor notes, compiled and presented pursuant to a court ordered Not Guilty by Reason of Insanity (NGRI) mental health evaluation, to be admitted into evidence and read to the jury through the testimony of Dr. Piasecki, in violation of Fletcher's Fifth Amendment Right against self-incrimination and her Fourteenth Amendment right to Due Process.

///

///

ARGUMENT

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