IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KATHERINE DEE FLETCHER,

No. 82047

Electronically Filed Feb 03 2022 05:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

VICTORIA T. OLDENBURG, ESQ. OLDENBURG LAW OFFICE

P.O. Box 17422

Reno, Nevada 89511

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS

Washoe County District Attorney

MARILEE CATE

Appellate Deputy

One South Sierra Street Reno, Nevada 89501

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

2. Standard of Review.

Generally, appellate courts review a district court's decision to admit or exclude evidence for an abuse of discretion. *See e.g., McLellan v. State*, 124 Nev. 263, 267, 182 P.3d 106, 109 (2008). However, the failure to object on the grounds raised on appeal precludes appellate review of the matter unless it rises to the level of plain error. *Id.*; *see also Green v. State*, 119

Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 94-95 (2003) (failure to object on the ground appellant now asserts on appeal generally precludes review unless appellant demonstrates plain error); see Kaczmarek v. State, 120 Nev. 314, 327-328, 91 P.3d 16, 26 (2004) (applying plain error review to an assertion that a defendant's Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination was violated). "In conducting plain error review, [the appellate court] must examine whether there was error, whether the error was plain or clear, and whether the error affected the defendant's substantial rights." Green, 119 Nev. at 545, 80 P.3d at 95 (cleaned up). "Additionally, the burden is on the defendant to show actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." Id. (citation omitted).

3. Argument.

a. Fletcher has not shown error or that the error was plain or clear in this case.

Below, Fletcher challenged the admission of Dr. Piasecki's statements by claiming that they were no longer relevant to the case because she withdrew her not guilty by reason of insanity defense. 3 AA 496-497. On appeal, Fletcher focuses her assignment of error on a new contention that the admission of her statements and handwritten notes violated her right against self-incrimination and she is entitled to a new trial as a result. To

the extent that this Court considers Fletcher's claim, Fletcher has failed to show plain error.

Initially, Fletcher asserts without any supporting analysis or argument that her statements were confidential under McKenna v. State, 98 Nev. 38, 39, 639 P.2d 557, 558 (1982). In McKenna, the Nevada Supreme Court held that due process and fair play preclude trial courts from appointing a psychiatrist to examine an accused and then using the confidential contents of that interview to obtain a conviction. *Id.* However, this case is distinguishable from McKenna. Here, Dr. Piasecki interviewed Fletcher in February of 2019 and received her written statement which was the subject of the interview sometime before then. 6 AA 1062-1063, 1064. The letter and the conversations predated the district court's order. See 2 AA 267-268 (the district court entered its order on May 24, 2019). In addition, Dr. Piasecki spoke with Fletcher at her request and with her voluntary participation. In other words, Fletcher's letter and the statements she made to Dr. Piasecki were completely independent from the district court's order for an examination by the State's expert. Therefore, the holding in *McKenna* is inapplicable here.

Moreover, Dr. Piasecki specifically advised Fletcher that their conversations were not covered by privilege and Fletcher agreed to speak

with her anyway. 6 AA 1063 (Dr. Piasecki testified "[t]his conversation was not protected [by privilege], because it was not a doctor/patient conversation" and Fletcher was made aware of that fact, but nonetheless continued the discussion). Dr. Piasecki's testimony on this point was consistent with Nevada law because the communications between Fletcher and Dr. Piasecki were intended to be disclosed to third parties when they were made. *See* NRS 49.207 (defining a "confidential" communication as one "not intended to be disclosed to third persons" unless those persons are necessary to the transmission of the communication or persons participating in the diagnosis or treatment at the direction of the psychologist). Further, as Dr. Piasecki's testified, Fletcher was not her

¹¹ Fletcher's written statement was provided originally to counsel and then provided to Dr. Piasecki. Fletcher does not claim attorney-client privilege applied here, nor would such a claim be successful because her written statement was disclosed either voluntarily or with her consent, and she discussed the contents of that disclosure with Dr. Piasecki after being informed that their discussion was not privileged. See e.g., NRS 49.3859(1) ("[a] person upon whom these rules confer a privilege against disclosure of a confidential matter waives the privilege if the person voluntarily discloses or consents to disclosure of any significant part of the matter"); see also *Lisle v. State*, 113 Nev. 679, 701, 941 P.2d 459, 473 (1997) ("If a client voluntarily reveals portions of the communications with the attorney, those revelations amount to a waiver of the attorney client privilege as to the remainder of the conversation or communication about the same subject matter") (cleaned up and overruled on other grounds by Middleton v. State, 114 Nev. 1089, 968 P.2d 296 (1998)). Any argument raised in this regard in Fletcher's Reply should be summarily rejected. See Footnote 7, supra.

patient during these discussions. See NRS 49.209 ("[a] patient has the privilege to refuse to disclose and prevent any other person from disclosing confidential communications between the patient and the patient's psychologist."). Thus, Fletcher's letter and statements to Dr. Piasecki were akin to any other defendant's admissions to a third party, and were admissible. See NRS 51.035(3)(a) (a party's statement offered by the opponent is not hearsay); see also NRS 51.115 (statements made for the purposes of medical diagnosis are not inadmissible under the hearsay rule so long as they were reasonably pertinent to a diagnosis). 12

///

¹² On Appeal Fletcher generally asserts that Dr. Piasecki's notes became

[&]quot;irrelevant, unduly prejudicial, and likely privileged" when Fletcher no longer placed her mental capacity at issue. Fletcher does not present cogent argument to support these claims and they should be summarily rejected. Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 13, 38 P.3d 163, 171 (2002)("[c]ontentions unsupported by specific argument or authority should be summarily rejected on appeal") (cleaned up). Even if these arguments are considered, they can easily be dispensed with. Fletcher's admissions and narrative of her actions before and after the murder were relevant because they had a tendency to make facts of consequence, as recounted by other witnesses, more probable. See NRS 48.015. Relevant evidence is generally admissible. NRS 48.025. Even balancing test contemplated in NRS 48.035 for excluding unduly prejudicial evidence favors admissibility. Homes v. State, 129 Nev. 567, 575, 306 P.3d 415, 420 (2013). Fletcher does not explain how the admission of her statements encouraged the jury to convict her on an improper basis. See id. (recognizing that all evidence offered by the State is prejudicial, but that "[e]vidence is unfairly prejudicial if it encourages the jury to convict the defendant on an improper basis") (cleaned up).

Fletcher also mistakenly contends that the introduction of her letter and statements to Dr. Piasecki violated her Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination. Fletcher relies on Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454 (1981), to support her argument. However, the Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination only offers protection where a person is "compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." U.S. Const. amend. V (emphasis added). In Estelle, the Supreme Court of the United States discussed the "inherently compelling pressures" of custodial interrogation and concluded that the same considerations applied to a court ordered pretrial psychiatric examination. 451 U.S. at 466-467. Critical to the Court's analysis were its findings that the defendant was in custody and ordered by the court to participate in the examination. *Id.* at 467-469. Under those circumstances, the Court concluded that the defendant's statements were not "given freely and voluntarily without any compelling influences" and improperly introduced because the defendant was not apprised of his right to remain silent and the possible use of his statements later before the court ordered examination occurred. *Id.* at 469.

As already discussed above, Fletcher was not *compelled* by the State or the district court to participate in the discussions with Dr. Piasecki. Fletcher participated voluntarily in hopes of developing a defense, even

after she was explicitly told by Dr. Piasecki that their conversations were not protected by privilege. Fletcher's handwritten letter and statements to Dr. Piasecki do not implicate the Fifth Amendment because they were voluntarily made. *See Estelle*, 451 U.S. at 469 ("Volunteered statements... are not barred by the Fifth Amendment...."). As a result, the facts of this case and the current state of the law do not support a finding of plain error. *See e.g.*, *Flowers v. State*, 136 Nev. 1, 456 P.3d 1037 (2020) (explaining it is the appellants burden to demonstrate error and that for an error to be plain it must be "clear under current law from a casual inspection of the record").

b. Fletcher failed to show that reversal is required here.

To the extent this Court finds that the district court erred in its admission of Fletcher's statements, and that the error was plain, it still should not reverse the judgment of conviction in this case. Fletcher has not demonstrated the requisite prejudice requiring reversal because the other evidence of Fletcher's guilt in this case was extensive and the jury's verdict would have been the same even if Fletcher's statements to Dr. Piasecki were not admitted. *See Green*, 119 Nev. at 548, 80 P.3d at 97 (finding that the appellant failed to show prejudice in a plain error analysis because the result of the trial would not have been different if the jury was properly instructed and, therefore, that the error did not affect the defendant's

substantial rights); *Kaczmarek*, 120 Nev. at 331-332, 91 P.3d at 28 (applying the same analysis to a Fifth Amendment claim).

Fletcher certainly had motive to kill Mr. Trask. They were involved in a custody dispute, where Fletcher was only entitled to visitation with her son for one hour a week, and about a month before the murder she learned that she lost her appeal in her custody case. 5 AA 846-848, 850-852, 856-857; 6 AA 1108, 1110, 1153-1155, 1157-1160. Indeed, in a phone call after the murder Fletcher chillingly told her mother that she was "just glad [Max will] be somewhere else." 7 AA 1299-1300.

Fletcher's behavior before the murder was also telling. She went target shooting and bought a 9-millimeter semi-automatic handgun between the time her appeal was denied in the custody case and the murder. 5 AA 966-967; 6 AA 1138-1139. Just before Mr. Trask was shot, Fletcher's demeanor suggested she was upset or unhappy. *See* 4 AA 727. She even said something to the effect of "people die when they play this game, people die" twice during Mr. Preciado's interaction with her on the dock. *Id.* at 727-730.

In addition, Fletcher's behavior following the shooting suggested she had a guilty mind. She did not call 911 after the murder, even though Max recalled her talking on the phone after they fled from the park. 6 AA 1117-

1118, 1120; 4 AA 739-740, 742-743. Fletcher tried to convince her son several times that someone shot his dad from the bushes, even though he knew no one else was there. 6 AA 1123-1124, 1135. After seeing the news about the murder, Fletcher was nervous, even by her mother's account, and immediately fled from her parents' home. 5 AA 801-805, 810-811, 937-938, 941. When Fletcher was stopped by officers, she claimed she was going to get cigarettes and then call the police. *Id.* at 822. She also claimed she could not find her phone. *Id.* at 935-937. Yet, Fletcher used her phone after she fled from the park, and never request to use her mother's phone when she arrived home. 5 AA 943-944; 6 AA 1120.

Further, Fletcher showed calculated demeanor changes during her interview with police, but did not exhibit the same behavior when she was with her mother or alone in the interview room. 6 AA 1216-1217, 1220-1221, 1223-1224. She made a similar calculated outburst during trial in an effort to disrupt the proceedings immediately after jurors saw her video interview and heard a call where her mother told her to "play the crazy card." *See* 6 AA 1240-1245 (the district court found "[t]hat's exactly what Ms. Fletcher just did in my view" when it discussed her outburst). Put simply, Fletcher's demeanor before and after the murder, as well as during trial, suggested her guilt.

More importantly, though, the eyewitness testimony and forensic evidence was also abundant and strong in this case. While Max and Mr. Preciado did not see Fletcher shoot Mr. Trask, both of their observations directly before and after the shot pointed to Fletcher as the only possible killer. Max and Mr. Preciado were certain that no one else was in the park or bushes at the time. 4 AA 737, 748-750; 6 AA 1119, 1123, 1135. The entry wound was to Mr. Trask back and the bullet traveled slightly up and from right to left (7 AA 1308), which was consistent with where Max reported his mother was standing shortly before he heard the shot. 6 AA 1115. Similarly, Mr. Preciado reported that Fletcher was behind Mr. Trask and blocked from Mr. Preciado's view at the time of the shot, but when Mr. Trask fell Mr. Preciado observed Fletcher manipulate something to her side or on her arm before she grabbed Max's hand and fled. 4 AA 732-734. No gun was found at the scene or the surrounding area. However, when Mr. Preciado passed Fletcher on the path, she had a purse which a reasonable juror could have concluded was what Fletcher manipulated after the shot and was where the gun was hidden as they passed each other on the path. See 4 AA 742-744.

Moreover, the evidence revealed Fletcher's 9-millimeter semiautomatic handgun was purchased ten days before the murder, and the bullet that killed Mr. Trask was of the same caliber. 6 AA 1138-1139; 7 AA 1280-1283. Fletcher's father also discovered Hornady brand bullets in his desk, which were not his. 5 AA 968-969. The Hornady brand of bullets recovered from Fletcher's home were the same brand as the shell casing found at the scene, as well as the bullet recovered from Mr. Trask's chest. 7 AA 1280-1283. Forensic evidence also revealed that there was gunshot powder residue on the clothing Fletcher was wearing that day and that the amount and type of residue recovered from her clothing was consistent with someone who fired the bullet which ultimately killed Mr. Trask. 7 AA 1257-1259, 1263-1266.

As the district court judge observed during sentencing in this case, the evidence against Fletcher was "overwhelming." 8 AA 1468. Indeed, the district court reflected, "I have perhaps not seen a stronger case in my career of guilt." *Id.* at 1468. These observations ring true in light of the evidence in this case. Fletcher's written statement and statements to Dr. Piasecki largely corroborated other evidence offered about the murder. There were two areas where Fletcher's statement differed or offered direct insight into what occurred, but those differences did not lead to Fletcher's conviction in this case.

///

First, Fletcher's statement included an explanation for why her gun and the purse she used that day were not recovered as evidence. Fletcher contends that the admission of this information was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and requires reversal. However, the fact of Mr. Trask's death by a gunshot was uncontroverted. A 9-millimeter bullet was recovered from his chest and a matching spent shell casing was recovered nearby. Fletcher's ownership of a firearm of the same caliber, the discovery of the same brand of bullets at her home, the gunshot residue evidence on her clothing, and eyewitness testimony all pointed to Fletcher's use of an unrecovered firearm to murder Mr. Trask. While Fletcher's statement confirmed why the firearm was not recovered, her explanation is of little to no consequence to the question of her guilt.

Next, Fletcher's statement was written to suggest that the gun went off in her purse by accident and she only realized what happened after leaving the park. However, the jury obviously disagreed with the unlikely

_

¹³ In *Kaczmarek*, the Court analyzed a Fifth Amendment claim under the plain error standard, but also observed that the error would have been harmless beyond a reasonable doubt even if the appellant had objected on Fifth Amendment grounds. 120 Nev. at 332, 91 P.3d at 28. The State submits the same is true here. The district court made the finding that the evidence was overwhelming at sentencing. The evidence as set forth in this brief supports the same finding from this Court, even if it conducts the harmless beyond a reasonable doubt analysis called for by Fletcher.

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